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July 3, 2023 

 

Landmarks Preservation Commission 
City of Berkeley 
Berkeley, CA  
 

Re: 2113 Kittredge Street, Structural Alteration Permit (#LMSAP2022-0011) 

Dear Commissioners: 

The Art Deco Society of California, a non-profit located in Berkeley, has reviewed staff recommendations 

on the proposed design for the housing project at 2113 Kittredge Street (described throughout the 

project as 2115 Kittredge), the former California Theatre. 

We still believe the current design is not compatible with the historic character of the Art Deco building 

(as outlined in a previous letter, dated April 19, 2023) because of its oversized proportions. 

The proposed housing project/tower, at 18 stories and 212 feet high in its entirety, is more than three 

times taller than the California Theatre. LPC staff, while noting that the Secretary of Interior’s standards 

clearly advise that any new addition to a historic building must be “subordinate to the historic 

building,” noted in its analysis that “the other aspects of the proposed design and the general context of 

the site could minimize the effects of the proposed massing and help to retain the historic façade’s 

visual prominence at the pedestrian level.” 

In a 1997 reprint and update of the original 1976 Secretary of the Interior’s standards, they clearly 

advise against: “Designing a new addition so that its size and scale in relation to the historic building 

are out of proportion, thus diminishing the historic character.” 

 

Last December, when staff asked the project owners/architects to add a setback that would ensure 

more visual prominence of the theatre’s façade, they came back with a modification that increased the 

setback but also increased the height of the building to its oversized proportions.  

The building now has an amenities floor that further diminishes the historic character of the building 

with its outsized proportions. Instead of being visually subordinate to the historic building, as the 

Secretary of Interior Standards requires, the amenities floor now appears as the dominant feature. 
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In addition to the incompatible massing of this project, the architects plan to remove the neon tubing 

from the neon sign and marquee, and replace it with LED rope lighting. The landmark designation from 

the City of Berkeley clearly states that the neon tubing, sign and marquee are “character defining 

features” which are protected as part of the LPC’s landmarking of the façade. 

The project architects state that they will replace the neon of the CALIFORNIA sign with LED neon rope 

lighting, which does not use glass nor neon gas, and is technically false neon. It has none of the 

aesthetically pleasing elements of real neon, which has a warmer glow, and its overall usage in this sign 

would mar and significantly diminish its historic character. The reader board panels of the marquee 

could potentially be replaced with LED lighting, if it does not interfere with the chaser action of the neon 

tubing around the letters CALIFORNIA. If the neon tubing is in disrepair, there are several well regarded 

neon sign repairers and preservationists in the Bay Area whom the ADSC is happy to recommend.   

The ADSC would like to remind the LPC that on page 6 of the Landmark Designation, the LPC approved 

as character defining features: Two rectangular neon signs on a projecting prow with stylized lettering 

that each spell out CALIFORNIA, projecting prow/angled marquee, surrounded in neon tubing, and a 

Lyre shaped center metal piece covered in neon tubing. The tubes that spell out CALIFORNIA on the 

marquee were configured to act as chasers, and flashed one after the other, in sequence. If using LEDs 

on the marquee interferes with this action, then the entire signage should be restored in neon. 

The architects also propose LED light strips that run in verticals along the façade of the new building, 

which we believe would only further accentuate the non-historic addition/building. The architects even 

stated in their proposal that the LEDs would draw the eye up vertically. The ADSC supports the proposed 

LED lighting that focuses on the Art Deco elements of the historic façade, but not the proposed vertical 

strips on the contemporary addition, nor the lighting fixtures that are proposed or their placement. We 

suggest hiding the lighting fixtures inside the niches or other spots on the façade of the theatre.  

We hope that the LPC commissioners will review this project closely and carefully and realize the full 

extent that your actions are having upon the City of Berkeley and its remaining historic buildings. 

 

Sincerely,  

 
Therese Poletti 
Preservation Director 
Art Deco Society of California 
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July 3, 2023 

          

LPC Chairperson Enchill 

Landmarks Preservation Commission 

 

Mr. Jordan Klein, Director  

Department of Planning 

1947 Center Street, 3rd Floor 

Berkeley, CA 94704 

 

Ms. Fatema Crane, Secretary  

Landmarks Commission 

1947 Center Street, 3rd Floor 

Berkeley, CA 94704 

 

VIA E-MAIL  

 

          Re:  BMC 3.24.250 and Landmarks Commission Jurisdiction 

 

Dear Director Klein, Secretary Crane, Landmarks Commission Chairperson Enchill and 

Commissioners: 

 

The Berkeley Architectural Heritage Association wishes to draw your attention to the 

misinterpretation of several sections of the Berkeley Municipal Code with respect to the activity of 

the Landmarks Commission (LPC). 

 

BMC 3.24.350 states, in relevant part: 

3.24.350 Applicability of provisions. 

A. No application for a permit to construct, alter or demolish any structure or other feature on a 

site, filed subsequent to the day that an application has been filed, or a resolution adopted to 

LATE COMMUNICATIONS PART 2 
LPC 07-06-2023 

Page 9 of 10



initiate designation of the said site as a landmark, an historic district, or a structure of merit, shall 

be approved while proceedings are pending on such designation. . . 

B. The provisions of this chapter shall be inapplicable to the construction, alteration or 

demolition of any structure or other feature on a proposed landmark site, historic district or 

structure of merit site, where a permit for the performance of such work was issued prior to the 

day that an application has been filed or a resolution adopted to initiate the designation of the said 

landmark site or historic district. . . (Ord. 5686-NS § 1 (part), 1985: Ord. 4694-NS § 15, 1974) 

The meaning of these paragraphs is clear. Paragraph A generally suspends the approval of 

building permits while a landmarks application is under consideration by the LPC. Paragraph B 

limits the jurisdiction of the LPC when a building permit was issued prior to the receipt of a duly 

constituted landmarks application.    

 

However, nowhere in these paragraphs is the LPC prevented from deliberating on a landmarks 

application in the case where a building permit has not been issued. Clearly, under Paragraph B, 

the LPC is thus fully entitled to consider a landmarks application when a building permit has 

been applied for, but not approved. 

 

We urge you to apply this conclusion to landmark applications in process currently and in the 

future. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Leila H. Moncharsh 

 

Leila H. Moncharsh 

President, BAHA 
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